

University of Central Florida

Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019

2018

Characterizing Biogeochemical Shifts in Two Salix Caroliniana Michx. Encroached Freshwater Subtropical Marshes

Janet Ho University of Central Florida

Part of the Biology Commons Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Masters Thesis (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019 by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

STARS Citation

Ho, Janet, "Characterizing Biogeochemical Shifts in Two Salix Caroliniana Michx. Encroached Freshwater Subtropical Marshes" (2018). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019.* 5885. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/5885



CHARACTERIZING BIOGEOCHEMICAL SHIFTS IN TWO SALIX CAROLINIANA MICHX. ENCROACHED FRESHWATER SUBTROPICAL MARSHES

by

JANET HO

B.S. University of Central Florida, 2016

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in the Department of Biology in the College of Sciences at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Spring Term

2018

Major Professor: Lisa G. Chambers

© 2018 Janet Ho

ABSTRACT

Shrub encroachment is a common disturbance in wetlands, but little is known about how shrub encroachment impacts functions such as carbon (C) storage and nitrogen (N) cycling. The objective of this thesis was to identify differences in physiochemical properties (within soil, water and leaf tissue) and biogeochemical processes (soil respiration, enzyme activity, litter decomposition, and N cycling) in two subtropical freshwater marshes encroached by coastal plain willow (Salix caroliniana Michx.). Two study regions (Moccasin Island and Lake Apopka) were selected because of their location in the St. John's River watershed and their unique histories and hydroperiod, allowing for an investigation of how synonymous the effects of willow-encroachment are across sites. A stratified random sampling design was employed in each region, identifying three plot types: willow (>80 % willow aboveground coverage), adjacent marsh (>80% herbaceous aboveground coverage and <1 m from willows), and control marsh (>80% herbaceous aboveground coverage and >10 m from willows) plots. Triplicate soil samples were collected in each plot in the wet and dry seasons of 2017 and analyzed for physiochemical properties (bulk density, moisture, nutrient content) and used in laboratory assays to measure soil respiration, enzyme activity, and potential N mineralization and denitrification rates. Leaf tissue was collected from the dominant vegetation in each plot and analyzed for nutrient content (total C, lignin-C, and total N). Short-term litter decay rate was determined using a litter-bag field experiment. Bioavailable N and dissolved organic C (DOC) concentrations were determined from surface and porewater collected from the center of each plot. In Moccasin Island, lower decomposition rates and greater denitrification, potential N mineralization, and soil C and N content were detected in willow and adjacent marsh plots, suggesting greater C storage and N cycling in willow-encroached marshes compared to non-

iii

encroached control marshes in Moccasin Island. Conversely, soil C and N content was lowest in willow plots in Lake Apopka. Decomposition and microbial activity (enzyme activity and respiration) were lowest in willow dominated areas and correlated to soil nutrient concentrations. In both regions, microbial compositional changes (gene copy number) were detected between plot types, mainly in bacteria (β-proteobacteria and Bacteroidetes) for Moccasin Island and archaea and fungi abundance in Lake Apopka. Ultimately, willow plots in both regions had greater lignin-C content and short-term litter C storage. Greater bioavailable N was also observed in adjacent and/or willow plots in both regions. However, soil C storage and N cycling differences were not synonymous between the two regions. Future studies of willow effects will need to look at multiple sites or risk making inaccurate generalizations. From the findings from this study, wetland processes can be altered in willow-encroached marshes and this data can help land managers decide where to allocate resources based on valued ecosystem services.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Lisa G. Chambers, for her guidance and support throughout this process. I would also like to thank the rest of my committee members (Drs. Charles R. Hinkle and Anna E. Savage) for their guidance. I would also like to recognize the University of Central Florida's Aquatic Biogeochemistry Laboratory (Tasnim Mellouli, Nia Hurst, Havalend Steinmuller, Sarah Harttung, Kevin McCarthy and Bryan Locher) for assistance in the lab and field and their support. I would also like to thank the University of Central Florida's Cole Lab for providing *Staphylococcus aureus* cultures for this study and the St. Johns River Water Management District (Doug Voltolina & Maria Zondervan) for access to study sites.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	x
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
Marsh Biogeochemical Processes	2
Carbon Sequestration	
Nitrogen Cycling	5
Site Description	6
Experimental Design	9
CHAPTER TWO: PHYSIOCHEMICAL PROPERTY DIFFERENCES IN TWO WILL ENCROACHED SUBTROPICAL FRESHWATER MARSHES	.OW- 10
Materials & Methods	13
Soil sampling and analysis	13
Water sampling	14
Leaf tissue sampling	15
Statistical analyses	16
Results	17
Soil physiochemical properties	17
Surface and Porewater	
Leaf Tissue Chemical Composition	
Discussion	
CHAPTER THREE: DIFFERENCES IN BIOGEOCHEMICAL PROCESSES IN TWO WILLOW-ENCROACHED SUBTROPICAL FRESHWATER MARSHES) 26
Materials & Methods	
Soil sampling	
Microbial community size and composition	
Microbial functions	
Litter decay	
Nitrogen cycling	
Statistical Analyses	
Results	

Soil microbial community size and composition	36
Microbial functions	38
Litter decay	41
Nitrogen cycling	43
Discussion	44
Labile-carbon pools and temperature are related to microbial compositional changes	45
Nutrient availability and soil moisture linked to microbial functions	46
Litter carbon storage	47
Nitrogen cycling	48
CHAPTER FOUR: CONCLUSION	50
APPENDIX A: PRIMER SEQUENCES FOR QPCR	53
LIST OF REFERENCES	55

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Hydrarch Model for Natural Marsh Succession)
Figure 2: Biogeochemical Cycle Pathways.	3
Figure 3: Simplified Nitrogen Cycle in Marshes	5
Figure 4: Map of various willow removal treatment areas in Florida. The red area represents the	
St. Johns River Watershed 12)
Figure 5: Mean value for porewater (a) orthophosphate and (b) N (NH ₄ ⁺ and NO ₃ ⁻) composition	
in soil profile segments in Moccasin Island by plot type19)
Figure 6: Mean value for porewater (a) orthophosphate and (b) N ($NH_4^+ + NO_3^-$) composition in	
soil profile segments in Lake Apopka by plot type 20)
Figure 7: Key physiochemical property differences in willow and adjacent plots compared to	
marsh plots by region	3
Figure 8: Mean gene copy number \pm SE for total bacteria and archaea based on universal primers	5
in Lake Apopka by plot type	3
Figure 9: Mean gene copy % for bacteria taxa in Lake Apopka by plot type	3
Figure 10: Untransformed mean value \pm SE extracellular enzyme activity rates in Moccasin	
Island by plot type)
Figure 11: Untransformed mean value ± SE extracellular enzyme activity rates in Lake Apopka	
by plot type 40)
Figure 12: Mean value \pm SE for initial leaf tissue and 4-month litter in Moccasin Island by plot	
type)
Figure 13: Mean value \pm SE for initial leaf tissue and 4-month litter in Lake Apopka by plot type	
	3
Figure 14: Key differences in biogeochemical processes in willow and adjacent marsh plots	
compared to marsh plots by region	5

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Table of Electron Acceptors and End Products in Cellular Respiration	5
Table 2: Study region comparison of general site conditions	8
Table 3: Mean \pm SE for soil nutrient concentrations in Moccasin Island and Lake Apopka by	/ plot
type	18
Table 4: Mean value \pm SE for surface water nutrient concentrations in Lake Apopka during 6	each
sampling by plot type	20
Table 5: Mean value \pm SE for leaf tissue for each region by plot type	21
Table 6: qPCR Cycle Properties	32
Table 7: Mean \pm SE % bacteria gene compositions for major bacteria taxa in Moccasin Islan	ıd by
plot type	37
Table 8: Primer Sequences for qPCR	54

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Adjacent marsh plots - Adj. Ammonium – NH_4^+ Carbon-CCarbon Dioxide – CO₂ Cell wall lignin – CWL $Dinitrogen-N_{2} \\$ Dissolved organic carbon – DOC Methane $- CH_4$ Nitrate $-NO_3^-$ Nitrogen – N Nitrous oxide – N_2O Organic matter - OM Phosphorous - PPotentially mineralized nitrogen - PMN Propidium monoazide - PMA Quantitative polymerase chain reaction - qPCR Soluble reactive phosphorous - SRP Standard error - SE

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Wetlands provide a multitude of ecosystem services, ranging from flood and erosion control, water quality improvement, and carbon (C) sequestration (Schuyt & Brander, 2004). Unfortunately, as much as 87% of all the wetlands in the world have been lost since the 1870s, and most remaining wetlands have been compromised by urbanization and agricultural practices (USEPA, 1994; Davidson, 2014). Legislation has been implemented since the 1970s to prevent wetland loss, but the lack of focus on wetland degradation has resulted in the loss of ecosystem services, which may contribute to increased atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂) levels, decreased biodiversity, and eutrophication of water bodies (Barbier, 1993).

Wetland degradation is the loss of wetland functions over time due to disturbances such as nutrient enrichment, hydrological alterations, and/or shrub encroachment. Shrub encroachment in wetlands is a key process in succession that converts graminoid-herbaceous dominated wetlands into shrub dominated wetlands (Figure 1). Shrub encroachment commonly follows anthropogenic disturbances and can lead to subsequent disturbances through facilitating exotic species, altering hydrologic regimes, and changing ecosystem functions (Van Auken, 2000; Johnston, 2003). However, most shrub encroachment studies have been performed in semi-arid grassland-shrubland transition zones; it is unclear whether shrub encroachment in subtropical marsh-shrub swamp transition zones leads to degraded ecosystem functions (Saintilan & Rogers, 2014). As shrub encroachment rates rise due to increasing anthropogenic disturbances, rising atmospheric CO₂ levels, and increasing fire suppression, it is critical to understand how marsh biogeochemical processes such as C sequestration and nitrogen (N)

cycling differ in encroached marshes. (Knapp et al., 2008).

Hydrarch Model for Lakes

IJ

Л



Pioneer community primes the system through nutrient and sedimentation input, creating a muck layer for the next community (submerged vegetation).

Submerged Vegetation

Submerged vegetation's waste and death results in sedimentation and nutrient build-up, allowing for the next community to grow (emergent vegetation).

Emergent Vegetation

Submerged vegetation is replaced with free-floating and emergent vegetation as nutrients continue to accumulate from submerged vegetation.

Marsh

Emergent vegetation is replaced by amphibious grasses and sedges. The large surface area of these plants block sunlight to submerged and free-floating vegetation. Plant and soil accumulation continues to reduce the water table.

Shrub Swamp

The marsh community is replaced by woody plants as the lake fills with sediment. Soil autogenic drying and shade limits previous plant community growth. Woody plants and shade-loving herbs are primed for this environment.

Forested Wetland

Continued soil drying has resulted in aerobic conditions, promoting the growth of trees, with some shrubs and herbs.

Upland

The lake completely dries up and sedimentation from previous plant communities promotes a lake-filled bottom. The community is dominated by trees and shade-tolerant shrubs and grasses. This the the climax terrestrial community.

Figure 1: Hydrarch Model for Natural Marsh Succession. Following Clements' autogenic succession concept, plants prime the environment for the next plant community until reaching the upland climax community and the loss of wetland status. Figure created by author.

Marsh Biogeochemical Processes

Biogeochemical cycles include the transformation, storage, and release of nutrients (e.g.,

C, N, and phosphorous (P)) in the atmosphere, lithosphere, biosphere, and hydrosphere (Figure 2).

Biogeochemical processes are regulated by soil microbes (bacteria, archaea, fungi, and protists) and influenced by environmental factors. Together, environmental conditions and the soil microbial community dictate biogeochemical functions of ecosystems (Reddy & DeLaune, 2008). In general, marshes can function as C sinks and N removers due to high primary productivity and anaerobic soil conditions which promote slow decomposition rates and denitrification (Mitsch & Gosselink, 2007).



Figure 2: Biogeochemical Cycle Pathways. Nutrients are transformed throughout the atmosphere, lithosphere, biosphere, and hydrosphere. Figure created by author.

Carbon Sequestration

Decomposition/mineralization is the catabolic breakdown of organic matter into inorganic compounds by soil microbes; the process releases CO_2 , dinitrogen gas (N₂), and/or methane (CH₄) into the atmosphere through cellular respiration. All microbes use cellular respiration to obtain energy for growth and reproduction. In aerobic conditions, oxygen (O₂) is used as the terminal

electron acceptor and releases CO_2 as a product. Soil microbes in anaerobic marsh soils must use less efficient terminal electron acceptors, such as nitrate (NO_3^-), and CO_2 that is produced during mineralization (Reddy & DeLaune, 2008; Table 1). Thus, in highly productive marshes with anaerobic conditions, new plant detritus often accumulates before older detritus has been fully decomposed by soil microbes, resulting in the incorporation of older detritus into the long-term soil organic C pool (Rocha & Goulden, 2009). Despite CO_2 and CH_4 emissions from respiration, marshes typically still act as net C sinks due to their high levels of immobilization and soil C storage (Mitsch & Gosselink, 2007). Disturbances that alter litter (quantity or quality) or marsh anaerobic conditions can alter decomposition rates and C storage (Cornwell et al., 2008).

Shrub encroachment has been reported to increase primary productivity, mainly due to increased annual litterfall of shrubs compared to herbaceous vegetation (Knapp et al., 2008; Brantley & Young, 2010). Additionally, shrub litter can contain lower litter quality than herbaceous litter, altering decomposition rates (Berg & Bosatta, 1985). Two major components of litter quality are lignin-C and N content (Cornwell et al., 2008). Lignin-C is used for structural support and considered a recalcitrant-C source, meaning it is harder for microbes to degrade. Woody plants like shrubs generally contain more lignin than herbaceous species (Berg & Bosatta, 1985). Initial lignin content has been reported to be indirectly related to litter turnover rates (Sariyildiz & Anderson, 2003). Lower lignin:N ratios are considered better in terms of litter quality since N availability can limit decomposition activity (Yang et al., 2015). Studies have reported lower litter quality in shrub litter than herbaceous litter (Kaye et al., 1998). Morphological differences between shrubs and herbaceous vegetation can alter litter dynamics (litterfall and litter quality) and impact litter C storage.

Table 1: Table of Electron Acceptors and End Products in Cellular Respiration. Alternative electron acceptors such as nitrate and sulfate are less efficient than oxygen.

Electron	O2	NO3 ⁻	Mn ⁴⁺	Fe ³⁺	SO4 ²⁻	CO2, H2
Acceptor						
End	H ₂ O, CO ₂	N ₂ , CO ₂	Mn ²⁺ ,	Fe ²⁺ , CO ₂	H ₂ S, CO ₂	CH4
Product			CO_2			

Efficiency

Table created by author.

Nitrogen Cycling

Nitrogen cycling is predominantly controlled by the soil microbial community (Saunders & Kalff, 2000). Important processes in N cycling include N mineralization and denitrification. Bacteria in the oxic soil zone can transform organic N into inorganic N (ammonium (NH₄⁺) and NO_3) which can be assimilated by plants and phytoplankton, easily exported in runoff, or diffused into the anoxic soil zone. Nitrogen mineralization can stimulate phytoplankton growth as nitrogen is often the limiting nutrient in ecosystems. These algal blooms act as a food source for microbes, promoting microbial growth and subsequently depleting available oxygen to create conditions such as hypoxia, or dissolved oxygen concentrations $<2 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ (Vymzal, 1995). Removal of excess bioavailable N through processes such as denitrification is critical to prevent eutrophication of major water bodies which can cause harmful algal blooms (Smith et al., 2006). Denitrifying bacteria found in the anoxic zone of wetland soils can transform NO₃⁻ into nitrous oxide (N₂O) and N₂ through sequential reduction reactions. These gases can then diffuse from the soil into the atmosphere, resulting in the removal of N from soil and runoff. (Figure 3). The presence of aerobic and anaerobic soil layers in marshes promotes specialized microbes that can transform N into bioavailable forms and remove excess N from the soil (Saunders & Kalff,

2000). Studies have reported greater evapotranspiration rates and rhizosphere oxidation in shrubs compared to herbaceous vegetation, which can result in changes to the redox status of the soil and alter N cycling (Pereira & Kozlowski, 1977; Budny & Benscoter, 2016). Shrub encroachment may result in altered physiochemical properties, raising the question of how marsh processes (C sequestration and N cycling) are altered in shrub-encroached marshes.



Figure 3: Simplified Nitrogen Cycle in Marshes. Figure created by author.

Site Description

In the south-east United States, willow (*Salix caroliniana* Michx.) is a common shrub encroaching freshwater marshes (Brummitt & Powell, 2002; Dahl, 2005). Willow encroachment has become a major land management issue due to willows' ability to alter plant community structure and underlying processes and its resilience to management practices (Conner et al., 2002; Hall et al., 2017). In the St. Johns River watershed (FL, USA), shrub coverage, predominantly willow, has increased anywhere from 6 to 89% in floodplain marshes in the last century, depending on location (Lowe et al., 1984; Hall et al., 2017). The expansion of willows has been attributed to hydrological alterations and fire suppression (Quintana-Ascencio et al., 2013).

Two regions (Moccasin Island and Lake Apopka) within the St. Johns River Watershed (FL, USA) have been heavily willow-encroached since the 1970s (Hall, 1987; Murphy, 2005). Moccasin Island (28.2359° N, 80.8212° W), was hydrologically altered in the early 1900s through levee construction, producing unvegetated moist soils ideal for willow seed germination (SJRWMD, 2013). Hydrological restoration during the 1980s removed the levees impeding water flow from the St. Johns River, providing mature willows the water they needed for further expansion (Quintana-Ascencio et al. 2013). Over time, willows outcompeted the existing sawgrass (*Cladium jamaicense* Crantz.) communities due to willow's longer life span, greater resilience, and inhibitory nature towards shade intolerant grasses (Scholes & Archer, 1997; Brummitt & Powell, 2002).

Lake Apopka North Shore (28.6946° N, 81.6586° W) was used for muck-farming (corn, celery, etc.) and predominantly disturbed by nutrient enrichment and hydrological alterations in the early 1900s (Murphy, 2005). In the 1980's, the St. Johns River Water Management District began to restore the marshes within Lake Apopka's North Shore by removing levees and canals, replacing exotic species with native plant species, removing N and P from the lake through annual gizzard shad (*Dorosoma cepedianum* Lesueur) removal, and reducing nutrient discharge from agricultural farms (Schaus et al. 2010). Nutrient loading in Lake Apopka has been reduced by as much as 80% since the 1980s, and the lake has demonstrated improved water quality compared to pre-restoration nutrient concentrations (Coveney, 2016). Cattail (*Typha spp.*), which appeared following nutrient enrichment in the early 1900s, was not removed since it is a native

7

Florida species. Despite restoration and willow management, willow encroachment is still a prevalent issue in Lake Apopka, since willow was well established prior to nutrient reduction in the 1980s (Murphy, 2005).

Both regions, Moccasin Island and Lake Apopka, are considered warm and wet with mean annual temperature and precipitation ranges around 21 - 22 °C and 1120-1160 mm (SJRWMD, online data). Hydroperiod and soil pH differ between the two regions (Table 2). Moccasin Island's water levels are dependent upon the St. Johns River levels, resulting in seasonal flooding during the study. Marshes in Lake Apopka are highly compacted and typically >1 m below lake level from previous agricultural practices, resulting in permanent flooding all year (Conrow et al. 2011). Despite varying hydroperiods and land histories, both regions in this watershed are willow-encroached. To date, no studies have been completed in either region on whether these willow-encroached marshes maintain similar levels of C storage and N cycling to their non-encroached counterparts.

	Moccasin Island	Lake Apopka
Disturbance History	Hydrological alterations	Agricultural practices
Current Vegetation	Sawgrass and willow shrub	Cattail and willow shrub
Soil Type	Hydric Haplosaprists	Hydric Haplosaprists
Soil pH	5.0 - 6.5	7.5 – 9.0
Hydroperiod	Seasonal (Aug – Dec 2017)	Permanent (all-year)

Table 2: Study region comparison of general site conditions

Table based on data from Hall, 1987; Murphy, 2005; USDA 2017 a&b.

Experimental Design

A stratified random sampling approach was employed to determine if differences exist in physiochemical properties (Chapter Two) and biogeochemical processes (Chapter Three) in willow-encroached marshes, relative to un-encroached marsh. Aerial photography was used to identify plots (4 x 4 m) as either shrub or herbaceous vegetation (SJRWMD, online data). Vegetation presence was verified in the field by dividing each plot into 16 quadrats (1 x 1 m) and only plots with aboveground presence of the specified vegetation (willow, sawgrass, or cattail) in > 80% quadrats were considered. After verifying vegetation coverage, herbaceous plots were further separated as either adjacent marsh (< 1m from willows) or marsh (> 10 m from willows) plots. Adjacent marsh plots were established to test if differences in willow-encroached marshes are observed beyond willow canopies, while marsh plots were used to determine how C and N biogeochemistry differs between native herbaceous marsh and the shrub-swamp that results following willow encroachment. In summary, three plot types based on vegetation type and willow proximity were designated for this study: willow plots (> 80% coastal-plain willow), adjacent marsh plots (> 80% dominant herbaceous vegetation and < 1 m from willows (~80% sawgrass and ~20% maidencane for Moccasin Island; ~80% cattail and ~20% maidencane for Lake Apopka), and marsh plots (same vegetation composition as adjacent marsh plots and >10 m from willows on all sides). Sampling occurred once in the winter (February – March) and summer (July – August) to capture seasonal variability and major deviations in hydropattern between regions. During every sampling, five of each plot type were randomly selected from each region using a Microsoft Excel random number generator.

9

CHAPTER TWO: PHYSIOCHEMICAL PROPERTY DIFFERENCES IN TWO WILLOW-ENCROACHED SUBTROPICAL FRESHWATER MARSHES

Shrub encroachment, a key process in natural succession, has been increasing at unprecedented rates in the last century (Archer, 2010). Increases in anthropogenic disturbances (agriculture, urbanization, etc.), fire suppression, and climate change have all contributed to the increase in shrub encroachment worldwide (Saintilan & Rogers, 2014). Grassland research has shown major physiochemical property changes in shrub-encroached landscapes. In general, shrub encroachment results in shrub, fertility, resource, and/or hydrologic islands due to the redistribution of nutrients and water into shrub canopies from the surrounding regions (Peng et al., 2013). In response to resource competition, shrub encroachment can result in bare or unvegetated interspaces between shrub canopies (Darrouzet-Nardi et al., 2006). Greater nutrient export and eutrophication from excess bioavailable nutrients in the water column have been observed in shrub interspaces, increasing soil heterogeneity in shrub-encroached grasslands (Schade & Hobbie, 2005). These physiochemical property changes have been well identified in shrub-encroached terrestrial grassland systems, but have not been as thoroughly researched in aquatic systems (Saintilan & Rogers, 2014).

Wetland shrub encroachment is the transition from graminoid-herbaceous marshes into shrub-swamps. Morphological and physiological differences between shrubs and herbaceous plants may result in changes in important wetland functions, such as C storage and N cycling. Litterfall and litter quality changes between shrubs and their herbaceous counterparts can alter decomposition rates and net C storage. Greater CO₂ sequestration, N fixation, radial oxygen loss, and evapotranspiration rates have been reported in shrubs compared to herbaceous vegetation in temperate and boreal wetlands (Marsh et al. 2000; Grygoruk et al. 2014). Deeper root systems, mycorrhizal associations with N-fixing bacteria and the lower water use efficiency of shrubs have been attributed to these alterations (Marsh et al., 2000; Scott et al., 2006; Brantley & Young, 2010). Differences in radial oxygen loss and evapotranspiration rates can impact anaerobic conditions in marshes, altering C and N cycling through changes in oxidationreduction (redox) conditions. Most of these studies have been completed in temperate and boreal wetlands, resulting in a knowledge gap on shrub encroachment in subtropical wetlands, which also constitute a large portion of the world's C storage (Mitsch & Gosselink, 2007).

Willow-encroachment has become a major land management issue in subtropical marshes, such as the St. Johns River watershed, in the last century (Figure 4). Most studies completed on willow-encroachment in subtropical marshes have focused on willow removal techniques (Lee et al., 2005; Quintana-Ascencio et al., 2013; Hall et al., 2017). Limited studies within this region investigating wetland processes have reported lower decomposition and higher evapotranspiration rates in willow-encroached areas, suggesting that willow encroachment may alter physiochemical properties (Duffy, 2014; Budny & Benscoter, 2016). Changes in physiochemical properties such as nutrient availability and soil moisture are important to consider as they can impact C storage and N cycling (Barnes et al., 2012). Furthermore, as wetlands can vary greatly in hydrology and land histories, two factors linked to shrub encroachment, it is unclear whether reported changes in willow-encroached marshes are similar worldwide or even within the same watershed (Maestre et al., 2016).



Figure 4: Map of various willow removal treatment areas in Florida. The red area represents the St. Johns River Watershed. Figure from: Hall et al., 2017

The purpose of this study was to characterize physiochemical property differences in two willow-encroached subtropical marshes (Moccasin Island and Lake Apopka) within the St. Johns River watershed that are willow-encroached and have different histories and hydroperiods. In this study, I quantified physiochemical differences (bulk density, soil moisture, nutrient (C, N, and phosphorous (P) content) in the soil, surface and porewater, and leaf tissue of willows and herbaceous vegetation (sawgrass and cattail). This study did not attempt to understand if willow encroachment was the cause of physiochemical property differences, but provides data on how ecosystem services may differ between willow-encroached and non-encroached marshes. A secondary objective was to see if differences detected in this study were synonymous within the same watershed or similar to findings from shrub encroachment in terrestrial systems.

Materials & Methods

Soil sampling and analysis

In both regions, five randomly selected plots from each plot type (willow, adjacent marsh, and marsh) were sampled. Three 0-15 cm soil cores were taken in every plot to account for heterogeneity using the push core technique and extruded in the field. Samples were immediately placed on ice and transported back to the Aquatic Biogeochemistry Lab at UCF where they were homogenized by hand and stored at 4°C until analysis. Soil surface redox potential and temperature was measured at every sampling point. A subset of field moist sample was dried in a ThermoFisher Heratherm oven (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) at 70°C for 72 hours and weighed to determine gravimetric moisture content and soil bulk density. Porosity was calculated as the % pore space = 1- (bulk density / particle density), with 2.65 g cc⁻¹ used as particle density (Boyd, 1995). Afterwards, the oven dried samples were ground with a SPEX Sample Prep Mixer Mill 8000M (Metuchen, NJ) to a fine powder for analysis of soil organic matter (OM) content and total nutrient (C, N, and P) analysis. A subset of the dried, ground sample (~0.005 g) was analyzed on the Elementar Vario Micro Cube (Elementar Americas Inc., Mount Laurel, NJ) for total C and N. Percent OM was determined on dried,

ground subsamples by ashing for four hours at 550°C in a ThermoFisher Isotemp muffle furnace (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) via the loss-on-ignition method. The ashed subsamples were then digested with 50 mL of 1 M HCl at 150°C for 30 minutes after Andersen (1976) and analyzed for total P on an AQ2 Discrete Analyzer (Seal Analytical, Mequon, WI) using EPA method 134-A Rev. 5. Additionally, a subset of the wet sample (~ 5 g) was extracted with 2 M KCl for extractable nutrients (nitrate (NO₃⁻), ammonium (NH₄⁺), and soluble reactive phosphorous on an AQ2 Discrete Analyzer (Seal Analytical, Mequon, WI; AGR-231, AGR-210, and EPA-118 respectively). Extractable N was calculated as the sum of extractable NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺.

Water sampling

While this study did not look at the cause of willow encroachment, I acknowledge that hydrological differences between plots could play a role in observed physiochemical property differences. Continuous automated surface water level loggers were placed in representative willow and marsh plots for each region throughout the entire study, as well as manual water level measurements recorded to the nearest cm in each plot during each sampling visit. No significant water level differences between plot types were detected in either region throughout the study.

Surface water (~500 mL) was collected in acid-washed Nalgene bottles from the center of all flooded plots with corresponding pH, turbidity, conductivity, temperature, and dissolved oxygen measurements determined on a ProDSS YSI (Yellow Springs Instruments, Yellow Springs, OH). All surface water samples were filtered through a 0.45µm membrane filter and preserved with double distilled concentrated sulfuric acid to a pH <2 within 24 hours and

14

analyzed for bioavailable surface water nutrients: NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺, orthophosphate, and dissolved organic carbon (DOC; EPA-127, EPA-103, and EPA-118 respectively).

Porewater was sampled in the summer using porewater equilibrators ('peepers'), rectangular acrylic boards with 35 wells at 1 cm depth intervals. Each well was filled with N₂purged DI water, the entire profile lined with 0.45 μ m membrane filter paper, and maintained under anaerobic conditions until deployment in the field. One peeper was installed vertically in the soil profile (0-35 cm) in the center of every plot and left to stabilize for seven days. After seven days, porewater was extracted and pooled into the following segments (0-5 cm, 5-10 cm, 10-15 cm, and 15-30 cm). Samples were preserved in the field with double distilled concentrated sulfuric acid to a pH <2 and analyzed for bioavailable porewater nutrients: NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺, orthophosphate, and DOC using the methods described above. Bioavailable N was calculated as the sum of bioavailable NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺.

Leaf tissue sampling

Plots were evenly split into 9 quadrats and ~10 live mature leaves from the dominant plant species in the plot (willow, cattail, or sawgrass) were randomly collected at eye level in each quadrat. Willow leaves were collected in willow plots and sawgrass or cattail leaves were collected in adjacent marsh and marsh plots. All leaves were brought back to the lab and rinsed with deionized water to remove sediment, larvae, and pollen. Samples were dried and ground with a SPEX Sample Prep Mixer Mill 8000M (Metuchen, NJ) to a fine powder for analysis of total nutrient (C, N, and P) analysis as described above. Cell wall lignin (CWL) content was

15

determined by the acetyl bromide method and analyzed at 280 nm on a HTX Synergy MicroPlate Reader (Moreira-Vilar et al. 2014; Biotek Instruments, Winooski, VT).

Statistical analyses

The study regions were individually analyzed for statistical analysis due to the different histories and hydrology between the regions. For each region, seasonal (winter and summer) data were combined for analyses because paired t-tests indicated there were no significant differences in each parameter between season, except for surface water in Moccasin Island, which was only flooded seasonally (stats package). Therefore, all data presented (except for surface water) had an n = 10 for each plot type, and for each site. All statistical analyses were performed in R Statistics (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). All data sets were tested for normality (Shapiro-Wilk) and homogeneity (Levene's test). For data that did not meet the assumptions (bulk density data from Moccasin Island and soil phosphorous data from Lake Apopka), data was log transformed. Differences between plot types and physiochemical properties were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA (stats package). If significant differences were detected between plot types, Tukey's test was used to determine which plots differed from each other (lsmeans package). Statistical significant was determined at α =0.05 for all tests. All results reported are the untransformed means \pm standard error (SE) and p-values shown are from ANOVA models.

Results

Soil physiochemical properties

At Moccasin Island, willow and adjacent marsh plots had greater porosity (p < 0.001; 82 ± 2%; 81 ± 1%) than marsh plots (67 ± 4%). Resultantly, lower soil compaction and greater soil moisture content (p < 0.01; p < 0.001) were observed in willow (0.40 ± 0.03 g cc⁻¹; 86 ± 1%) and adjacent marsh plots (0.50 ± 0.02 g cc⁻¹; 79 ± 2%) than in marsh plots (0.98 ± 0.21 g cc⁻¹; 52 ± 9%). Redox potential (p < 0.01) was lowest in willow and adjacent marsh plots (23 ± 21 mV; -6 ± 13 mV) compared to marsh plots (82 ± 13 mV). Soil temperatures were greater in adjacent marsh plots ($29.8 \pm 0.41^{\circ}$ C) than in willow ($28.7 \pm 0.42^{\circ}$ C) and marsh plots ($28.5 \pm 0.42^{\circ}$ C). Greater soil nutrient (OM, C, N, and P) concentrations and higher C:N were observed in willow and adjacent marsh soils compared to marsh soils (p < 0.01; Table 3). Bulk extractable SRP and N (NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺) did not differ significantly between plot types.

At Lake Apopka, porosity and bulk density was similar in all plot types, but less soil moisture (p = 0.03) was observed in willow ($47 \pm 5\%$) soils compared to adjacent marsh soils ($57 \pm 4\%$) and marsh soils ($63 \pm 3\%$). While not significant, soil temperatures were generally greater in adjacent marsh plots ($31 \pm 1.2^{\circ}$ C) in comparison to willow ($29.3 \pm 1.3^{\circ}$ C) and marsh plots ($30.9 \pm 1.2^{\circ}$ C). Less total C content (p = 0.03) was detected in willow plots ($162 \pm 30 \text{ g kg}^{-1}$) compared to adjacent marsh ($224 \pm 26 \text{ g kg}^{-1}$) and marsh plots ($282 \pm 33 \text{ g kg}^{-1}$). Total N, P, C:N, extractable SRP, and extractable N (NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺) were similar in all plot types.

Study Region	Plot Type	SOM [g kg ⁻¹ soil]	Total C [g kg ⁻¹ soil]	Total N [g kg ^{.1} soil]	Total P* [g kg ⁻¹ soil]	C:N
Moccasin Island						
Istana	Marsh	518 ± 89^{a}	245 ± 28^{a}	13 ± 0.5^{b}	$5.6\pm0.6^{\mathrm{a}}$	11.6 ± 0.1^{a}
	Adj.	792 ± 24^{b}	413 ± 8.3^{b}	$7.7\pm0.5^{\mathrm{a}}$	9.0 ± 1.0^{b}	12.2 ± 0.1^{b}
	Willow	831 ± 29^{b}	$399 \pm 11^{\text{b}}$	8.9 ± 0.3^{a}	9.4 ± 0.9^{b}	12.1 ± 0.5^{b}
Lake Apopka						
	Marsh	468 ± 76^a	281 ± 33^{b}	12.5 ± 0.8^{a}	$5.5\pm0.5^{\mathrm{a}}$	15.3 ± 1.0^{a}
	Adj.	380 ± 63^a	224 ± 34^{ab}	11.5 ± 0.8^{a}	$5.8\pm0.8^{\rm a}$	14.9 ± 0.7^{a}
	Willow	295 ± 57^a	162 ± 34^{a}	11.3 ± 0.8^{a}	5.4 ± 1.1^{a}	15.9 ± 0.8^{a}

Table 3: Mean \pm SE for soil nutrient concentrations in Moccasin Island and Lake Apopka by plot type.

* All statistical analyses for total P at Lake Apopka were ran using log transformed data, but untransformed total P results are shown here for interpretation. Superscript letters represent significantly different means by Tukey's HSD test. Table created by author.

Surface and Porewater

Moccasin Island was only seasonally flooded from August – December. Water level did not differ by plot type and ranged from 72 – 92 cm during sampling. Of the bioavailable surface water nutrients measured, only DOC differed by plot type (p = 0.01). Adjacent marsh plots had greater DOC concentrations ($16.5 \pm 0.8 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$) than willow ($14.1 \pm 1.0 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$) and marsh ($12.6 \pm 2.1 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$) plots. In contrast, porewater DOC concentrations from 0-30 cm in the soil profile did not differ at any depth by plot type. By depth, both willow and adjacent marsh plots contained more porewater orthophosphate than marsh plots in the upper 15 cm (p < 0.05; Figure 5a). Porewater bioavailable N (NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻, predominantly in the form of NH₄⁺) was similar in all plots except for the upper 5 cm, where adjacent marsh plots contained more N than all other plot types (p = 0.03; Figure 5b).



Figure 5: Mean value for porewater (a) orthophosphate and (b) N (NH_4^+ and NO_3^-) composition in soil profile segments in Moccasin Island by plot type. * represents a significantly different mean value compared to marsh plots using Tukey's HSD test. Figure created by author.

Lake Apopka was permanently flooded during the study. Water level did not differ by plot type and ranged from 38 - 81 cm during sampling times. The only difference in trends between seasons in the entire study was in surface water DOC concentrations. During the winter sampling, willow plots contained more DOC ($95 \pm 8 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$) than adjacent marsh plots ($81 \pm 4 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$). However, a general equilibrium of DOC concentrations between willow and adjacent marsh plots was observed in the summer sampling, suggesting possible transport of DOC throughout the system (Table 4). This was supported by personal observations of willow litter in both willow and adjacent marsh plots during the summer. In both seasons, surface water bioavailable NH₄⁺ was greatest in willow plots (p < 0.01; Table 4). Surface water orthophosphate concentrations were similar for all plots. In contrast to the surface water results, porewater DOC did not differ by plot type or depth. Willow and adjacent marsh plots had twice as much porewater orthophosphate, particularly in the 15-30 cm segment (p = 0.02; Figure 6a). Adjacent marsh plots contained twice as much total porewater bioavailable N (NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻, predominantly NH₄⁺) as marsh and willow plots (p = 0.01; Figure 6b). By soil depth, the majority of N was in the 0-10 cm segment for willow plots and observed in the lower 10-30 cm for adjacent marsh plots. In summary, greater surface water (NH_4^+ and DOC) and porewater (ortho-P and $NH_4^+ + NO_3^-$), bioavailable nutrients were detected in willow and/or adjacent marsh plots.

Table 4: Mean value \pm SE for surface water nutrient concentrations in Lake Apopka during each sampling by plot type. During both samplings, willow plots had the highest bioavailable NH₄⁺ concentrations. Dissolved organic C concentrations was highest in willow plots during the winter sampling and a general equilibrium of DOC concentration was observed in the summer sampling.

Sampling	Plot Type	DOC	NH4 ⁺	NO3 ⁻	SRP
		[mg L ⁻¹]	[mg L ⁻¹]	[mg L ⁻¹]	[mg L ⁻¹]
Winter					
	Marsh	88.4 ± 7.3^{ab}	$0.10\pm0.01^{\text{a}}$	$0.04\pm0.01^{\text{b}}$	0.01 ± 0.00^{a}
	Adj.	$81.1\pm4.0^{\rm a}$	0.08 ± 0.03^{a}	0.02 ± 0.01^{a}	0.01 ± 0.00^{a}
	Willow	94.6 ± 8.6^{b}	$0.20\pm0.01^{\text{b}}$	0.03 ± 0.01^{ab}	0.02 ± 0.01^{a}
Summer					
	Marsh	80.7 ± 6.3^{a}	$0.10\pm0.01^{\text{a}}$	$0.03\pm0.01^{\text{b}}$	0.02 ± 0.01^{a}
	Adj.	$85.7\pm5.5^{\rm a}$	0.08 ± 0.03^{a}	0.01 ± 0.01^{a}	0.01 ± 0.00^{a}
	Willow	83.1 ± 3.6^a	0.20 ± 0.01^{b}	0.02 ± 0.01^{ab}	0.02 ± 0.01^{a}

Superscript letters denote significantly different means by Tukey's HSD test. Table created by author.



Figure 6: Mean value for porewater (a) orthophosphate and (b) N ($NH_4^+ + NO_3^-$) composition in soil profile segments in Lake Apopka by plot type. * represents a significantly different mean compared to marsh plots using Tukey's HSD test. Figure created by author.

Leaf Tissue Chemical Composition

At Moccasin Island, willow leaf tissue had greater total C content (p < 0.001; 479 ± 10 g kg⁻¹ leaf tissue) than sawgrass leaves in adjacent marsh (443 ± 3 g kg⁻¹ leaf tissue) and marsh (441 ± 3 g kg⁻¹ leaf tissue) plots. Marsh and adjacent marsh plots contained the same vegetation composition but greater N content was observed in sawgrass leaves in adjacent marsh plots (p <0.001; Table 5). As a result, sawgrass leaves in adjacent marsh plots contained the highest quality (lowest C:N) and willow leaves contained the lowest litter quality (p < 0.001). Similarly, willow leaves had the greatest cell-wall lignin content (p = 0.05). Total P content did not differ by plot type.

Study	Plot	Total C	CWL	Total N	Total P	C:N
Region	Туре	[g kg ⁻¹ leaf]				
Moccasin Island						
	Marsh	441 ± 3^{a}	30.7 ± 9.4^a	26.3 ± 2.0^{b}	1.7 ± 0.2^{a}	$17.0\pm1.4^{\text{b}}$
	Adj.	443 ± 3^a	33.7 ± 2.0^a	35.5 ± 0.8^{c}	1.6 ± 0.1^{a}	12.5 ± 0.3^a
	Willow	479 ± 10^{b}	55.1 ± 8.0^{b}	20.4 ± 2.0^{a}	1.7 ± 0.2^{a}	$24.1 \pm 1.3^{\circ}$
Lake Apopka						
	Marsh	467 ± 5^{a}	19.8 ± 2.1^{b}	$21.9\pm2.1^{\rm a}$	1.3 ± 0.1^{a}	22.3 ± 2.6^a
	Adj.	$\overline{470}\pm4^a$	12.3 ± 2.6^{a}	23.0 ± 5.0^{a}	1.5 ± 0.3^{a}	$21.6\pm3.7^{\rm a}$
	Willow	488 ± 4^{b}	43.9 ± 14^{c}	20.0 ± 2.5^{a}	1.2 ± 0.2^{a}	25.0 ± 4.0^{a}

Table 5: Mean value \pm SE for leaf tissue for each region by plot type. In both regions, greater C and CWL content was detected in willow leaf tissue. N content was lower in willow leaves than sawgrass leaves.

Superscript letters represent significantly different means by Tukey's HSD test. Table created by author.

Likewise, at Lake Apopka, total C and CWL content differed by plot type (p < 0.01 and p = 0.03 respectively). Greater total C and CWL content was observed in willow leaves (488 ± 4 g

kg⁻¹ leaf tissue; 44 ± 14 g kg⁻¹ leaf tissue) compared to cattail leaves in adjacent marsh (470 ± 4 g kg⁻¹ leaf tissue; 12 ± 3 g kg⁻¹ leaf tissue) and marsh (467 ± 5 g kg⁻¹ leaf tissue; 20 ± 2 g kg⁻¹ leaf tissue) plots. No significant differences in total N, total P, or C:N were detected (Table 5).

Discussion

Physiochemical properties differed significantly by plot type in the two willowencroached marshes. While vegetation and water properties differences were directionally similar in both regions, soil physiochemical property differences were highly dissimilar by region (Figure 7). Soil C and N concentrations were 2x greater in willow and adjacent marsh plots at Moccasin Island while willow plots at Lake Apopka had lower C concentrations and soil moisture than marsh and adjacent marsh plots. The directional difference of physiochemical properties between these two willow-encroached marshes within the same watershed suggests that studies focused on singular study regions risk making inaccurate generalizations of wetland shrub encroachment effects.



Figure 7: Key physiochemical property differences in willow and adjacent plots compared to marsh plots by region. Boxes overlaying both adj. and willow plots signify differences in both plot types (p < 0.05). Figure created by author.

One possible explanation for the dissimilar directional shift of soil physiochemical properties is hydroperiod differences. Permanent flooding, like at Lake Apopka, may reduce the amount of litterfall reaching the soil surface in willow plots, decreasing soil C content. Moccasin Island was only seasonally flooded, permitting direct litterfall deposition onto the soil surface when it was not flooded. The differences in soil nutrient results between sites aligns with terrestrial shrub encroachment studies where drier sites captured more organic C while wetter sites lost organic C in shrub encroached landscapes (Schlesinger et al., 1996; Jackson et al., 2002; Bhark & Small, 2003; Schade & Hobbie, 2005), further supporting the hypothesis that the hydroperiod of a wetland may play a key role in determining the unique properties of shrub-encroached areas relative to marsh areas. Future studies on litter-water dynamics using more marshes with different hydroperiods will need to be done to corroborate this. As wetlands can be highly variable in hydrology, which is tightly linked to shrub encroachment, it is important to

understand the role hydrology may play on soil physiochemical properties in shrub-encroached wetlands.

Soil physiochemical property differences, particularly soil nutrient availability, redox potential, and moisture, are important to consider as these properties are all associated with biogeochemical processes such as C storage and N cycling (Hartman et al., 2008). Greater soil nutrient availability detected in willow plots at Moccasin Island could increase soil microbial community size, altering C storage and N cycling by accelerating decomposition rates (Hartman et al., 2008; Cederlund et al., 2014). Less saturated soils can promote aerobic microbes such as fungi who are well known for breaking down recalcitrant-C sources, altering decomposition rates (Ewing et al., 2007; Hartman et al., 2008). Denitrification, an important process in regulating water quality, occurs in reduced soil conditions (Faulkner & Richardson, 1988). Willow and adjacent marsh plots in Moccasin Island had lower redox potentials which can promote denitrification and alter N cycling. The detection of soil property differences in this study supports the need for future studies on how biogeochemical processes (decomposition and denitrification) differ between willow-encroached marshes and non-encroached marshes.

Other physiochemical property differences in this study included nutrient differences in water and leaf tissue. In both regions, I observed greater bioavailable nutrients (NH₄⁺ and orthophosphate) in water (surface and/or porewater) in willow and adjacent marsh plots. Depending on the wetlands' capacity to remove excess bioavailable N, greater bioavailable N concentrations in willow and adjacent marsh plots could pose a eutrophication risk, especially in areas like Lake Apopka which are already at high risk from possible persistent nutrient pollution (Coveney et al., 2016). Bioavailable N in water can also be linked to leaf N allocation, which

24

may explain why sawgrass in adjacent marsh plots contained more leaf N than sawgrass in marsh plots (Davis, 1990). As a limiting nutrient, greater leaf N content in sawgrass can improve litter quality and accelerate decomposition rates in adjacent marsh plots (Yang et al., 2015). However, the lower litter quality (lignin content, C:N) of willow leaves could impede decomposition and result in greater litter C storage in willow-encroached marshes (Duffy, 2014). In summary, differences in leaf chemical composition and water nutrients in these regions may alter litter C storage and N cycling in willow-encroached marshes.

Major physiochemical property differences were detected in willow plots and adjacent plots relative to non-encroached marsh plots in both study regions. As physiochemical properties are linked to biogeochemical processes, the next step will be to determine if and how wetland processes such as C storage and N cycling are altered in willow-encroached marshes. Dissimilarities in physiochemical property differences were seen between regions, therefore it will be important to disentangle why these differences were observed and use appropriate sampling designs in future studies to ensure inaccurate generalizations are not made. Information like this is valuable to improve our understanding of the impacts shrub encroachment has on wetland function and aiding land managers in making informed decisions on willow management depending on their marsh system and desired ecosystem functions.

25
CHAPTER THREE: DIFFERENCES IN BIOGEOCHEMICAL PROCESSES IN TWO WILLOW-ENCROACHED SUBTROPICAL FRESHWATER MARSHES

Freshwater wetlands play a critical role in C storage and N cycling (Schuyt & Brander, 2004). Freshwater wetlands can store twice as much soil C stored as terrestrial systems and are commonly used to treat stormwater due to their ability to remove excess bioavailable N (38 - 83 g N m⁻² yr⁻¹) via denitrification (Coveney et al., 2002; Mitsch et al., 2012; Adame et al., 2015).). Marshes provide these services in large part due to the soil microbial community which acts as fundamental transformers of nutrients (Mitsch & Gosselink, 2007). However, these microbes are especially vulnerable to environmental stress as marshes are commonly disturbed by hydrological alterations, nutrient enrichment, shrub encroachment, and more (Hartman *et al.*, 2008).

Environmental stress can alter the controlling factors of microbial communities, which include soil chemistry, nutrient input, and hydrology. For example, increased nutrient deposition and litterfall from shrub encroachment can increase microbial community size and modify C storage (Dhillion, 1997; Duffy, 2014). Compositional shifts between anaerobes and aerobes or oligotrophs and copiotrophs from hydrological alterations and nutrient enrichment respectively, can alter microbial C and N use efficiency (Ajwa & Tabatabai, 1994). Furthermore, studies have shown that even if restored, wetlands may show decreased bacterial diversity compared to undisturbed wetlands (Hartman et al., 2008). Changes in microbial functions such as enzyme activity and CO₂ production can also act as indicators of biogeochemical changes in disturbed landscapes (Langenheder et al., 2006). Accordingly, it is important to identify size, compositional,

and functional changes in the soil microbial community to understand if C storage and N cycling is altered in marshes under environmental stress.

Shrub encroachment, an increasingly common phenomenon in wetlands, can result in environmental stress through vegetation transitions. Studies have demonstrated that decomposition and evapotranspiration can be altered in willow-encroached marshes (Duffy 2014; Budny & Benscoter, 2016). However, few studies have focused on soil microbial differences in willow-encroached marshes, despite the key role microbes play in biogeochemical processes. Based on the detection of major physiochemical property differences in Chapter Two, it is possible that microbial-mediated biogeochemical processes (C storage and N cycling) can also be altered. Therefore, this study focused on identifying differences in the soil microbial community and biogeochemical processes in two willow-encroached marshes (Moccasin Island and Lake Apopka) within the St. Johns River watershed.

From physiochemical differences in the soil, water and leaf tissue at Moccasin Island and Lake Apopka (see Chapter Two), I predicted that increasing recalcitrant lignin-C found in willow litter would result in lower decomposition rates and greater litter C storage in willow plots for both regions (Ewing et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2008). At Moccasin Island, greater nutrient availability, recalcitrant litter, and saturated soil conditions combined with anaerobic and aerobic periods due to seasonal flooding will promote N mineralization and denitrification rates in willow and/or adjacent marsh plots. At Lake Apopka, lower nutrient availability would depress enzyme activity, denitrification, and decomposition rates in willow plots. Ultimately, I predicted that lower litter quality in willow litter would depress decomposition rates and increase litter C storage while soil nutrient availability and soil moisture would influence N cycling in each region.

Materials & Methods

Soil sampling

Sampling for all assays below were completed from soil samples collected in the summer (July – August) except for potential mineralized N (PMN) rates, which was an additional study and sampled in December 2017. In both regions, five of each plot type were randomly selected for sampling. For each analysis described below, three sampling points were randomly selected in each plot. Soil temperature was measured at each sampling point prior to collecting the sample. Two 0-10 cm soil cores were collected around each sampling point using the push core technique, extruded in the field and composited into one sample to account for soil heterogeneity. All soil cores were collected in sterile Whirl-Pak bags (Nasco, Fort Atkinson, WI) and transported on dry ice to the University of Central Florida for analyses.

Microbial community size and composition

Microbial biomass carbon

A subsample (~5 g) of wet soil of each sample was extracted with 25 mL of 0.5 M K₂SO4 after incubating at 25°C and 150 rpm for one hour and designated as the non-fumigate sample. A duplicate subsample was chloroform fumigated for 24 hours and subsequently extracted with 0.5 M K₂SO₄ for an hour (Vance et al., 1987). Both the non-fumigate and fumigate samples were vacuumed filtered using Supor 0.45µM filters, preserved using DD H₂SO4, and stored at 4°C until analysis. Organic flocculants formed after filtration were separated from the supernatant and dissolved in 1 M H₂SO₄. Both the supernatant and dissolved

flocculants were analyzed for DOC on a Shimadzu TOC-L analyzer (Shimadzu Instruments, Kyoto, Japan). Soil microbial biomass-C was calculated as the difference in DOC between the fumigate and non-fumigate for every sample.

Viability qPCR

For propidium monoazide (PMA) optimization, a non-antibiotic resistant human Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus) nasal isolate of sequence type 8 (provided by the University of Central Florida's Cole Lab) was used. Cultures were designated as viable or non-viable for PMA optimization. The S. aureus batch designated as non-viable was immersed in a 90°C water bath for 15 minutes and then cultured on luria broth agar overnight at 37°C to verify that the culture was not viable. Quantification was measured on a BioTek Synergy HTX multi-mode reader at 600 nm (BioTek Instruments, Winooski, VT). To determine optimal PMA conditions, sets (consisting of sterilized soil spiked with either viable or non-viable S. aureus) were designated with different PMA concentrations (20 - 70 uM) and photoactivation times (15 - 50 eV)min) using a 600 W LED lamp placed 20 cm above the samples. After photoactivation, all samples were extracted using the DNeasy PowerSoil kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). DNA quality was verified by ensuring A260/A230 and A260:A280 were > 1.5. Samples were quantified through quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) on a CFX96 Touch Real-Time PCR detection system (BioRad, Hercules, CA). Each 20 uL consisted of 10 uL of PowerUp SYBR Green Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), 1.25 ul of universal bacteria primers Eub338 and Eub518 (10 uM; Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), 5 ul of template DNA (0.5 ng ul), and 3.75 ul of qPCR grade water. Samples were analyzed in triplicate in polypropylene 96-well plates with an absolute standard curve (serial dilutions of *S. aureus*).

All plates were ran for 15 min at 95°C, followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 1 min, 30 s at 53°C, 72°C for 1 min, and a melt curve at 95°C for 10 seconds. Sets with high PMA concentrations and/or long photoactivation times resulted in low recovery rates of live *S. aureus* detected due to prolonged or intense intercalation of viable DNA with PMA. Out of the two sets with > 90% recovery rates of viable *S. aureus*, the set with minimal experiment manipulations (20 uM PMA dye and 15 min of photoactivation) was selected as optimal PMA conditions (Nocker et al., 2007; Desneux et al., 2015).

Soil microbial composition identification followed the protocol described below. Soil samples were wet sieved (2 mm mesh) and injected with 20 uM PMA dye and incubated for 15 minutes prior to DNA extraction. Extracted DNA samples were run in triplicate on a CFX96 qPCR System with the same reaction mix from PMA optimization. Following a modified taxon-specific qPCR method, samples were run for 10 min at 95°C, 40 cycles of 95°C for 60 seconds, annealed at the temperatures listed in Table 6 for 30 seconds, and heated at 72°C for 60 seconds (Fierer et al., 2007; Table 6). Microbial DNA specific to each microbial taxon were extracted and quantified to create standard curves for absolute quantification during qPCR (Carolina Biological Supply, Burlington, NC; Table 6). Melt disassociation curves were run after the reaction at 95°C for 10 sec. Post-amplification products were run on a 2% agarose gel to verify amplicon length.

All bacteria, fungi and archaea abundance was calculated as the total amount of gene copies in each soil sample from each assay using domain-specific universal primers. Six of the most common bacteria taxa observed in soils were quantified using taxon-specific primers (Fierer et al. 2005; Table 6). Bacteria composition of each taxa was calculated as the gene copy number for the specific bacteria taxa over total number of all bacteria gene copies. Bacteria classified as "other bacteria" was calculated as the remaining amount of all bacteria gene copies not identified as one of the six bacteria taxa quantified.

Target group	DNA Standard	Forward	Reverse	Amplicon	Annealing
	C 1 1			length (bp)	$\frac{\operatorname{temp}(\mathbf{C})}{52}$
All Bacteria	Staphylococcus	Eub338	Eub518	200	53
	aureus				
a-Proteobacteria	Rhodospirllum	Eub338	Alf685	365	60
	rubrum				
Acidobacteria	Acidobacterium	Acid31	Eub518	500	50
	capsulatum				
β-Proteobacteria	Spirillum	Eub338	Bet680	360	60
	volutans				
Actinobacteria	Micrococcus	Actino235	Eub518	300	60
	luteus				
Firmicutes	Staphylococcus	Lgc353	Eub518	180	60
	aureus				
Bacteroidetes	Novosphingobium	Cfb319	Eub518	220	65
	capsulatum				
All Fungi	Eurotium	5.8s	ITS1f	300	53
	chevalieri				
All Archaea	Halobacterium	Arch967F	Arch-	140	60
	salinarum		1060R		

Table 6: qPCR Cycle Properties. Table modified from Fierer et al., 2005.

* Nucleotide sequence of primers provided in Appendix A. Table created by author.

Microbial functions

Enzyme activity

Alkaline phosphatase, β-1-4-glucosidase, β-N-acetylglucosaminidase, β-xylosidase and cellobiose were measured with a methylumberiferone (MUF) substrate assay within 24 hours of field collection (Freeman et al., 1995). A soil slurry (~0.5 g wet soil and 39 mL of autoclaved distilled water) was incubated at 25°C for 1 hour at 140 rpm. 150 uL of the slurry and 100 uL of substrate (MUF-x) were incubated at 25°C for 24 hours and fluorescence activity was measured at excitation/emission wavelengths 360/460 nm on a BioTek Synergy HTX multi-mode reader at the 0 and 24-hour mark (BioTek Instruments, Winooski, VT). Enzyme activity rate was determined as the difference between the final and initial fluorescence over 24 hours.

Soil carbon production rates

To determine potential soil production rates for CO_2 and CH_4 , a microcosm was created in a 120 mL serum bottom using ~ 5 g of fresh wet soil and 10 mL of N₂ purged site water. All serum bottles were closed with a rubber septa and aluminum crimp and evacuated with N₂ gas. Samples were placed in the orbital shaker at 150 rpm and 25°C for 96 hours. At every sampling time (12, 24, 48, 72, and 96-hours), headspace gas samples and pressure readings were taken to determine total gas production at a constant temperature using Henry's Law. The headspace gas was analyzed for CO_2 and CH_4 using a Shimadzu Gas Chromatograph (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). Standard curves were made with known concentrations of pure mixtures of gases and a linear regression was fitted to measure the production rate of every soil sample.

Litter decay

Each plot was split into 9 quadrats and ~10 live mature leaves from the dominant plant species in the plot (willow, cattail, or sawgrass) were randomly collected at eye level in each quadrat in March 2017. All leaf tissue was rinsed with nanopore water before being oven dried at 60°C for 72 hours. A subset of fresh leaf tissue from each plot was ground and total C and N content were determined. Lignin-C content was also analyzed using the acetyl bromide method (Moreira-Vilar et al. 2014). Twelve litter bags (dimensions: 31 x 31 cm; 2 mm mesh) were filled with ~1 g of dried leaf tissue representative of the plot's vegetation composition and anchored in a circular pattern to the ground using wooden stakes in March 2017. Four random bags from each plot were collected in June 2017 and brought back to the University of Central Florida for analysis. Litter was rinsed with deionized water and dried at 60°C for 72 hours before being weighed. Mass decay rates were determined as the mass loss over time (Wider & Lang, 1982). Nutrient (total C, lignin-C, and total N) content was determined on the litter mass remaining. In September 2017, the study regions were affected by Hurricane Irma, preventing the collection of litter bags beyond the four-month collection.

Nitrogen cycling

Potential mineralized nitrogen rates

Potential mineralized nitrogen rates were determined through laboratory incubations (White & Reddy, 2000). A subset of fresh wet soil (~5 g) was extracted with 2M KCl and allowed to incubate at 150 rpm and 25°C for 1 hour before being analyzed for NO_3^- and NH_4^+ on a Seal AQ2 Discrete Analyzer for initial extractable N content using EPA methods EPA-127 and

EPA-103 respectively. A duplicate subset was placed in a 120 ml glass serum bottle and crimp sealed with a rubber septa and aluminum cap. Samples were purged with N₂ for 10 minutes and injected with 10 ml of N₂ purged distilled H₂O to create anaerobic conditions. After shaking at 150 rpm and 25°C for ten days at room temperature, samples were extracted with 2M KCl at 150 rpm and 25°C for 1 hour and analyzed for NH_4^+ on an AQ2 Discrete Analyzer for final extractable N concentrations. PMN rates were calculated as the difference between the initial and final extractable N concentrations over time.

Potential denitrification rates

To determine denitrification potential, a microcosm was created in a 120 mL serum bottom using ~ 5 g of fresh wet soil, 17 mL of C₂H₂ and 10 mL of 50 ppm nitrate glucose solution. Acetylene was used to stop denitrification at N₂O, which was measured using a Shimadzu Gas Chromatograph (Yoshinari & Knowles, 1976). Samples were incubated at 150 rpm and 25°C for 96 hours. The headspace gas and pressure measurements were collected at 12, 24, 48, 72, and 96-hours for analysis on the gas chromatograph. Standard curves were made with known concentrations of pure mixtures of gases and a linear regression was fitted to measure the gas concentration of every soil sample. The gas pressure, constant temperature, and headspace gas concentration were used to calculate total gas volume and thus, the denitrification potential of every soil sample.

Statistical Analyses

Each study region was statistically analyzed independently in R statistics. For every measured property, the three samples in each plot were averaged for a mean plot value to be used

in statistical analyses. Therefore, all data presented had an n = 5 for each plot type, and for each site. All data sets were tested for normality (Shapiro-Wilk) and homogeneity (Levene's test). For data that did not meet the assumptions (all extracellular enzyme activity rates for both regions), data was log transformed to meet the assumptions. Differences between measured properties and plot types were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA (stats package). If significant differences were detected between plot types, Tukey's test was used to determine which plots differed from each other (Ismeans package). Relationships between previously reported soil physiochemical properties (see Chapter Two) and the measured responses in Chapter Three were analyzed using linear regressions (df = 13) at a significance of p < 0.05. All results are reported as the untransformed mean \pm SE and p-values shown are from ANOVA models.

Results

Soil microbial community size and composition

Microbial composition

Microbial biomass C and viability qPCR showed no changes in microbial community size or general composition (total bacteria:archaea:fungi) between plot types at Moccasin Island. Half of the bacteria in this region were designated as "other bacteria" (DNA identified as bacteria, but not identified as any of the six dominant bacteria taxa studied). Out of the six bacteria taxa quantified, major compositional shifts within bacteria was detected. Bacteriodetes and Betaproteobacteria abundance was lowest in adjacent marsh plots (p = 0.02; p < 0.001). Betaproteobacteria and Bacteroidetes abundance was inversely related to soil temperature ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.65$ and 0.98 respectively).

Taxon [% bacteria gene copies]	Marsh	Adj.	Willow
Alphaproteobacteria	1.75 ± 0.71^{a}	1.24 ± 0.89^a	0.85 ± 0.29^{a}
Acidobacteria	39.8 ± 26.0^{a}	$39.7\pm23.7^{\rm a}$	30.9 ± 24.6^{a}
Actinobacteria	3.76 ± 0.89^{a}	2.37 ± 1.21^{a}	3.42 ± 0.47^a
Bacteriodetes	7.68 ± 0.93^{b}	3.84 ± 0.80^a	5.43 ± 0.71^{a}
Betaproteobacteria	1.44 ± 0.07^{b}	0.56 ± 0.04^{a}	$2.82 \pm 0.15^{\circ}$
Other bacteria	45.6 ± 6.50^a	52.3 ± 8.34^{ab}	$56.6 \pm 1.50^{\text{b}}$

Table 7: Mean \pm SE % bacteria gene compositions for major bacteria taxa in Moccasin Island by plot type.

Superscript letters represent significantly different means by Tukey's HSD test. Table created by author.

At Lake Apopka, willow plots had the greatest microbial community size, due to the increase in archaea abundance (p < 0.001; Figure 8). Fungi were found in small quantities (< 5000 gene copies g⁻¹ soil) and only in willow and adjacent marsh plots. Despite no significant differences in total bacteria community size, shifts in major bacteria taxa abundance were observed by plot type. Only Actinobacteria and other bacteria abundance differed by plot type (p < 0.001; p = 0.01; Figure 9). Willow and adjacent marsh plots had more "other bacteria" (gene copies that identified as bacteria but were not within the six common bacteria taxa studied) than marsh plots (p < 0.001). Actinobacteria gene copies; 18 ± 0.4 % bacteria gene copies) compared to marsh plots (39 ± 0.4 % bacteria gene copies) and directly related to soil DOC concentrations ($R^2 = 0.55$, p = 0.04).



Figure 8: Mean gene copy number \pm SE for total bacteria and archaea based on universal primers in Lake Apopka by plot type. Letters signify significantly different mean rates as determined by Tukey's HSD test. Figure created by author.



Figure 9: Mean gene copy % for bacteria taxa in Lake Apopka by plot type. Value represents mean gene copy % total bacteria and letters signify significantly different means as determined by Tukey's HSD test. Figure created by author.

Microbial functions

All statistical analyses were run on log-transformed extracellular enzyme activity rates.

For interpretation, all results and figures are shown as untransformed means \pm SE. In Moccasin

Island, both β -1-4-glucosidase and β -N-acetylglucosaminidase activity followed an increasing activity gradient from marsh to willow plots (p = 0.05; Figure 10a & b). Willow plots had greater alkaline phosphatase activity than all other plot types (p < 0.01; Figure 10c). Extracellular enzyme activity was not highly correlated to any soil physiochemical property but in general, β -1-4-glucosidase activity increased with soil DOC concentrations while β -N-

acetylglucosaminidase and alkaline phosphatase activity were directly related to soil moisture content. Like enzyme activity rates, willow and adjacent marsh plots had the highest CO₂ production rates (p < 0.01; $1.9 \pm 0.2 \ \mu g \ CO_2 \ g^{-1}$ soil hr⁻¹; $2.1 \pm 0.2 \ \mu g \ CO_2 \ g^{-1}$ soil hr⁻¹) while marsh plots had the lowest CO₂ production rates ($1.1 \pm 0.1 \ \mu g \ CO_2 \ g^{-1}$ soil hr⁻¹). CO₂ production was directly related to soil C content ($R^2 = 0.60$, p = 0.03). Methanogenesis was minimal in all plots.



Figure 10: Untransformed mean value \pm SE extracellular enzyme activity rates in Moccasin Island by plot type. Horizontal bar represents mean value \pm SE for marsh plots. Letters signify significantly different activity rates as determined by Tukey's HSD test. Figure created by author.

All extracellular enzyme activity rates were log-transformed to meet assumptions for statistical analyses. For interpretation, all results and figures are shown as untransformed means \pm SE. At Lake Apopka, adjacent marsh and/or willow plots generally had lower β -1-4-glucosidase, β -N-acetylglucosaminidase and β -xylosidase activity rates than marsh plots (p = 0.2; Figure 11a-c). Only alkaline phosphatase activity significantly differed by plot type (p <

0.001). Adjacent marsh plots had the greatest alkaline phosphatase activity $(5.1 \pm 0.9 \ \mu mol \ g^{-1}$ soil hr⁻¹) than all other plot types (Figure 10d). In general, adjacent marsh plots $(1.8 \pm 0.2 \ \mu g \ CO_2 \ g^{-1} \ soil \ hr^{-1})$ produced less CO₂ than marsh $(3.2 \pm 0.8 \ \mu g \ CO_2 \ g^{-1} \ soil \ hr^{-1})$ and willow plots $(2.5 \pm 0.2 \ \mu g \ CO_2 \ g^{-1} \ soil \ hr^{-1}; \ p = 0.1)$. Methanogenesis was minimal in all plots. Soil physiochemical properties explained little of the variance in enzyme activity or respiration rates except for alkaline phosphatase activity, which was directly related to soil moisture content ($R^2 = 0.57, \ p = 0.02$).



Figure 11: Untransformed mean value \pm SE extracellular enzyme activity rates in Lake Apopka by plot type. Horizontal bar represents mean value \pm SE for marsh plots. Letters signify significantly different activity rates as determined by Tukey's HSD test. Only alkaline phosphatase activity significantly differed by plot type. Figure created by author.

Litter decay

At Moccasin Island, short-term (4 month) mass decay was lowest in willow litter (p < 0.01; 56 \pm 1 % remaining) compared to sawgrass litter in adjacent marsh (35 \pm 4 % remaining) and marsh plots (39 \pm 5 % remaining). Mass decay rates were directly related to leaf lignin-C content (R² = 0.78, p = 0.02). Initially, greater C and lignin-C content was observed in willow leaf tissue compared to sawgrass leaf tissue, resulting in lower litter quality (p = 0.01). After only four months of decomposition, major chemical changes were detected in the litter. Lignin-C content drastically decreased by 75% in willow litter (p = 0.02; Figure 12a). Willow litter had the greatest litter N concentrations (p < 0.001) and as a result, willow plots contained the lowest total C:N and lignin:N ratios following four months of in-situ decomposition (p = 0.05; p =0.04; Figs 12b-d).



Figure 12: Mean value \pm SE for initial leaf tissue and 4-month litter in Moccasin Island by plot type. Letters represent significantly different means determined by Tukey's HSD test for initial leaf tissue. Italicized letters represent significantly different means determined by Tukey's HSD test for 4-month litter. Figure created by author.

Similarly, at Lake Apopka, mass decay was lower in willow $(43 \pm 5 \%$ remaining) plots compared to marsh plots $(20 \pm 2 \%$ remaining; p < 0.001). Greater lignin and total N content was detected in willow litter compared to herbaceous litter after four months of decomposition (p < 0.01; Figure 13a &b). Resultantly, remaining willow litter had greater or similar litter quality (C:N and lignin:N) as cattail litter in marsh plots (Figure 13 c & d).



Figure 13: Mean value \pm SE for initial leaf tissue and 4-month litter in Lake Apopka by plot type. Letters represent significantly different means determined by Tukey's HSD test for initial leaf tissue. Italicized letters represent significantly different means determined by Tukey's HSD test for 4-month litter. Figure created by author.

Nitrogen cycling

At Moccasin Island, PMN and denitrification rates differed by plot type (p = 0.02; p =

0.001). Specifically, adjacent marsh (16.1 \pm 1.3 mg g⁻¹ soil day⁻¹) and willow plots (16.2 \pm 2.1

mg g⁻¹ soil day⁻¹) had greater PMN rates than marsh plots ($12.8 \pm 2.0 \text{ mg g}^{-1}$ soil day⁻¹). Adjacent

marsh soils had greater potential denitrification rates $(0.31 \pm 0.05 \ \mu g \ N \ g^{-1} \ soil \ hr^{-1})$ compared to

willow $(0.22 \pm 0.04 \ \mu g \ N g^{-1} \text{ soil } hr^{-1})$ and marsh soils $(0.16 \pm 0.05 \ \mu g \ N g^{-1} \text{ soil } hr^{-1})$.

Denitrification potential was directly related to soil moisture content ($R^2 = 0.66$, p = 0.01).

At Lake Apopka, PMN rates were similar in all plots and only differences in denitrification rates were observed (p < 0.001). Willow and adjacent marsh plots had lower denitrification rates ($0.22 \pm 0.05 \ \mu g \ N \ g^{-1}$ soil hr⁻¹; $0.24 \pm 0.04 \ \mu g \ N \ g^{-1}$ soil hr⁻¹) than marsh plots ($0.34 \pm 0.02 \ \mu g \ N \ g^{-1}$ soil hr⁻¹). Denitrification potential was directly related to soil total N content ($R^2 = 0.55$, p = 0.03).

Discussion

This study emphasizes the significance of shifting vegetation communities within wetlands, as major differences in microbial activity and biogeochemical processes were detected within willow and/or adjacent marsh plots and between study regions (Figure 14). I found that microbial compositional changes were highly related to labile-C pools and temperature, while nutrient availability and soil moisture greatly impacted microbial functions. Resultantly, C storage and N cycling differences in willow-encroached marshes were detected and not synonymous between study regions within the same watershed.



Figure 14: Key differences in biogeochemical processes in willow and adjacent marsh plots compared to marsh plots by region. Boxes overlaying both adj. and willow plots signify differences in both plot types (p < 0.05). Figure created by author.

Labile-carbon pools and temperature are related to microbial compositional changes

Correlations between soil microbial composition and physiochemical properties in the study regions demonstrated that changes in litter quality and temperature were related to bacteria community composition differences. Soil DOC, often considered the labile-C pool microbes can easily access for metabolism, was observed as a correlate of Actinobacteria abundance (Gonet & Debaska, 2006). Some studies have shown no relationship between oligotrophs like Actinobacteria to labile-C (Fierer et al., 2007) sources while Actinobacteria increased in response to labile-C amendments in other studies (Goldfarb et al., 2011). In this study, Actinobacteria abundance was directly related to soil DOC concentrations with lower Actinobacteria abundance in adjacent marsh and willow plots at Lake Apopka. At Moccasin Island, soil temperatures played a larger role in determining microbial community shifts. Soil temperature was highly correlated to β-Proteobacteria and Bacteriodetes abundance, where less

gene copies from these taxa were observed in adjacent marsh plots which also had the highest temperatures. Previous studies have shown both taxa to be considered mesophilic bacteria (Green et al., 2006). Temperature played a larger role at Moccasin Island than at Lake Apopka due to Moccasin Island's seasonal flooding status. This may have permitted greater direct radiance onto the soil surface compared to Lake Apopka, where surface water levels were always > 30 cm and surface temperatures did not differ between plots. In sum, C quality or soil temperatures were major indicators of bacteria abundance shifts in willow-encroached marshes.

Nutrient availability and soil moisture linked to microbial functions

In this study, enzyme activity and respiration rates differed between regions and was associated with nutrient availability and soil moisture. At Moccasin Island, greater microbial activity was observed in willow and/or adjacent marsh plots where greater nutrient availability and soil moisture were detected. At Lake Apopka, willow plots had lower microbial activity, nutrient availability, and moisture. Relationships between soil physiochemical properties and biogeochemical processes were consistent with the current literature. CO₂ production was directly related to soil C availability, while denitrification potential was related to soil N availability and soil moisture. Greater nutrient (C and N) availability can allow for greater microbial biomass size and respiration (Hartman et al., 2008). Greater soil moisture content can inhibit O₂ diffusion, promoting reduced soils conditions (-50 to 50 mV) and denitrification (Wierer et al., 1993). Overall, greater microbial activity occurred where larger soil nutrient pools were detected and denitrification activity was linked to soil moisture.

Litter carbon storage

Despite a slight increase in CO₂ production in Moccasin Island's willow plots, mass decay was halved in the same plots, suggesting greater litter C storage potential. At Lake Apopka, both CO₂ production and mass decay rates were depressed in willow plots. Mass decay rates were highly correlated to recalcitrant lignin-C content in the plots' respective litter. Other studies have also found similar results; litter quality decreases with shrub encroachment and depresses decomposition rates (Duffy, 2014). However, it is important to note that the rates reported in this study and many others only demonstrate short-term decomposition rates. It has been assumed that long-term decomposition rates may be magnitudes slower than short-term decomposition rates, as labile-C rapidly breaks down in fresh litter, but older litter has slower turnover times as mainly recalcitrant-C sources remain (Bazter & Sharitz, 2014). Conversely, this study reported litter chemistry changes that suggest willow litter quality may improve in as little as four months of decomposition, potentially speeding up the rate of decomposition in the long-term. The greater fungi abundance in willow and adjacent marsh plots may also aid in quicker turnover of recalcitrant litter in willow plots. In this study, willow-encroached marshes increased as potential short-term C sinks due to willow's lower initial litter quality. While shortterm decomposition rates show depressed mass loss of willow litter, litter chemistry changes and microbial composition differences suggest that long-term decomposition may not be linear and willow-encroached marshes could store less litter C in the long-term. Future studies on long-term decomposition can help elucidate on long-term litter C storage in willow-encroached marshes.

Nitrogen cycling

Freshwater marshes are commonly at risk of eutrophication from agriculture and urbanization and it is important to consider how shrub encroachment can alter N cycling. Greater N mineralization and lower denitrification in willow plots may result in eutrophication and decreased water quality over time as less net bioavailable N is removed from the water. At Moccasin Island, greater N cycling (mineralization and denitrification) was detected in willow and adjacent marsh plots, while Lake Apopka's willow plots had lower denitrification potential than marsh plots. These trends are consistent with previous studies on N cycling and nutrient amendments; N mineralization and denitrification rates were directly related to nutrient availability and moisture content respectively (Peng et al., 2007; Barnes et al., 2012). N cycling was highly dependent upon the region and associated with soil physiochemical properties.

Structural differences between sawgrass and cattail may also contribute to N cycling differences between regions. The presence of hypertrophied lenticels and secondary aerenchyma in cattail and willows (*S. nigra, S. viminalis*) can promote oxidation hotspots via radial oxygen loss, allowing for coupled nitrification/denitrification in the rhizosphere (Pereira & Kozlowski, 1977; Li et al., 2010; Randersen et al., 2011). At Lake Apopka, no differences in N mineralization was observed between cattail and willow plots. However, at Moccasin Island, both willow and adjacent marsh plots (potential willow root penetration) had greater N mineralization rates than sawgrass control plots. Future studies on radial oxygen loss between these three species will need to be done to corroborate this.

Major differences in soil microbial composition and function were observed in willow and adjacent marsh plots, resulting in slower decomposition and changes in N cycling. Differences in the microbial community and biogeochemical processes in willow-encroached marshes were highly dependent upon physiochemical properties such as litter quality, nutrient availability, and soil temperature. The notable differences in C storage and N cycling in willowencroached marshes in this study emphasizes the importance of understanding how shrub encroached marshes in this study emphasizes the importance of understanding how shrub encroachement can impact wetland functions. Furthermore, it is important to acknowledge that marshes, even within the same watershed, may have different responses to willow-encroachment. This is fundamentally important for land managers who deal with shrub encroachment in a multitude of marshes that are inevitably different in hydroperiod, vegetation, etc. Based on these results and findings from future studies, land managers can make better informed decisions on whether to continue willow removal or to maintain willow populations based on desired wetland functions and marsh conditions.

CHAPTER FOUR: CONCLUSION

Physiochemical properties and biogeochemical processes differed in willow and/or adjacent marsh plots compared to non-encroached marsh plots. Physiochemical properties (nutrient availability, soil moisture, and soil temperature) were highly associated with observed changes in microbial composition and function. Together, the differences in physiochemical properties and biogeochemical processes altered these marshes' ability to sequester C and cycle N. Greater short-term litter C storage was observed in both regions, but N cycling changes differed by region. As land managers are currently investing resources to remove willows from a variety of wetlands, it is critical for land managers to have data that can help them make informed decisions based on desired ecosystem functions. For example, greater C storage was detected in willow plots in both regions, but previous studies have shown greater evapotranspiration rates in subtropical willow-encroached marshes (Budny & Benscoter, 2016). Depending on if C storage or water storage is a desired function, it can impact whether land managers decide to keep or remove willow. Long-term decomposition and nutrient runoff studies are needed to gain a clearer understanding of C and N cycling in willow-encroached marshes and to aid land managers in the decision-making process. These findings provide the foundation for future functional studies as it demonstrated that C and N cycling were altered in willowencroached marshes.

The differences observed in willow-encroached marshes were dissimilar to terrestrial systems, as previously assumed. A common effect of shrub encroachment in terrestrial systems is the creation of fertility islands, where greater soil nutrients are observed within shrub canopies

(Schlesinger & Pilmanis, 1998). However, less soil C was observed in willow plots at Lake Apopka, potentially due to litter suspension in the water column and the dispersion of litter and nutrients from willow plots via water. Only at Moccasin Island, where litter and nutrients were deposited directly onto the soil surface during seasonal dry-down, were fertility islands detected. Nevertheless, even at Moccasin Island where fertility islands were present, greater nutrient concentrations were also detected in adjacent marsh plots. This is contrary to terrestrial studies where there is generally a decrease in nutrients in the adjacent regions (unvegetated bare soil). In highly productive wetlands such as the marshes in this study, adjacent plots are rarely unvegetated. The presence of vegetation in adjacent plots promoted nutrient deposition whereas unvegetated soils in terrestrial systems promote the loss of soil nutrients over time as they are dispersed by wind or water. A common theme in both studies was the dissimilarities between freshwater marshes within the same watershed, highlighting the need for studies to use appropriate sampling regions to reduce the risk of making inaccurate generalizations. Ultimately, this study emphasizes the need for more research in aquatic systems to truly understand how wetland functions will be impacted by shrub encroachment.

As one of few characterizations of physiochemical properties and biogeochemical processes in willow-encroached marshes, it has provided the foundation for future research, such as isolating the less common bacteria taxa detected but unidentified in willow soils and investigating how they might impact biogeochemical processes. Also, the greater litter quality of willow litter compared to herbaceous litter after only four months of decomposition raises the question of how long-term decomposition will be altered in willow-encroached marshes. In summary, this thesis begins to inform a large knowledge gap in wetland disturbance ecology and

demonstrates the importance of studying the impact of shrub encroachment on valuable ecosystem functions like C storage and N cycling.

APPENDIX A: PRIMER SEQUENCES FOR QPCR

 Table 8: Primer Sequences for qPCR

Primer	Primer sequence (5'-3')
Eub338	ACT CCT ACG GGA GGC AGC AG
Eub518	ATT ACC GCG GCT GCT GG
Alf685	TCT ACG RAT TTC ACC YCT AC
Bet680	TCA CTG CTA CAC GYG
Actino235	CGC GGC CTA TCA GCT TGT TG
Lgc353	GCA GTA GGG AAT CTT CCG
Cfb319	GTA CTG AGA CAC GGA CCA
Acid31	GAT CCT GGC TCA GAA TC
ITS1f	TCC GTA GGT GAA CCT GCG G
5.8sr	CGC TGC GTT CTT CAT CG
Arch967F	AATTGGCGGGGGGGGGCAC
Arch-1060R	GGCCATGCACCWCCTCTC

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Archer, S. R. (2010). Rangeland Conservation and Shrub Encroachment: New Perspectives on an Old Problem. Wild Rangelands, 53-97. doi:10.1002/9781444317091.ch4
- Adame, M. F., Santini, N. S., Tovilla, C., Vázquez-Lule, A., Castro, L., & Guevara, M. (2015).
 Carbon stocks and soil sequestration rates of tropical riverine wetlands. Biogeosciences, 12(12), 3805-3818. doi:10.5194/bg-12-3805-2015
- Ajwa, H. A. & Tabatabai, M. A. (1994). Decomposition of different organic materials in soils.Biology and Fertility of Soils, 18(3), 175-182. doi:10.1007/bf00647664
- Andersen, J. (1976). An ignition method for determination of total phosphorus in lake sediments. Water Research, 10(4):329-331. doi: 10.1016/0043-1354(76)90175-5
- Barbier, E. B., 1993. Sustainable use of wetlands. Valuing tropical wetlands benefits: Economic methodologies and applications. The Geographical Journal, 159(1): 22-32.
 doi:10.2307/3451486
- Barnes, R. T., Smith, R. L., & Aiken, G. R. (2012). Linkages between denitrification and dissolved organic matter quality, Boulder Creek watershed, Colorado. Geophysical Research Biogeosciences, 117(G01014). doi: 10.1029/2011JG001749
- Batzer, D. P., & Sharitz, R. R. (2014). Ecology of freshwater and estuarine wetlands. Oakland,CA: University of California Press.

- Berendse, F., Berg, B., & Bosatta, E. (1988). The effect of lignin and nitrogen on the decomposition of litter in nutrient-poor ecosystems: A theoretical approach. Canadian Journal of Botany, 66(2), 400-400. doi:10.1139/b88-063
- Bhark, E. W. & Small, E. E. (2003). Association between Plant Canopies and the Spatial Patterns of Infiltration in Shrubland and Grassland of the Chihuahuan Desert, New Mexico. Ecosystems, 6(2), 185-196. doi:10.1007/s10021-002-0210-9
- Blake, G.R., Hartge, K.H., 1986. Bulk density. In: Klute, A. (ed.), Methods of soil analysis, part
 1, Physical and mineralogical methods, American Society of Agronomy, Madison,
 Wisconsin, USA, pp. 363–375.
- Brantley, S. T., & Young, D. R. (2010). Shrub expansion stimulates soil C and N storage along a coastal soil chronosequence. Global Change Biology, 16(7), 2052-2061. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2009.02129.x
- Brummitt R.K. & Powell C.E. (2002). Authors of plant names: a list of authors of scientific names of plants, with recommended standard forms of their names, including abbreviations. London: Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew.
- Budny, M. L. & Benscoter, B. W. (2016). Shrub Encroachment Increases Transpiration Water Loss from a Subtropical Wetland. Wetlands, 36(4), 631-638. doi:10.1007/s13157-016-0772-5
- Cederlund, H., Wessén, E., Enwall, K., Jones, C. M., Juhanson, J., Pell, M., ... Hallin, S. (2014). Soil carbon quality and nitrogen fertilization structure bacterial communities with

predictable responses of major bacterial phyla. Applied Soil Ecology, 84, 62-68. doi:10.1016/j.apsoil.2014.06.003

- Conner, W. H., Doyle, T. W., & Mason, D. (2002). Water Depth Tolerances of Dominant Tree Island Species: What do We Know? Tree Islands of the Everglades, 207-223. doi:10.1007/978-94-009-0001-1_7
- Conrow, R., E.F. Lowe, M.F. Coveney, R.H. Rauschenberger, and G. Masson. (2011).
 Restoration of Lake Apopka's North Shore Marsh: High Hopes, Tough Times, and
 Persistent Progress. In: J. E. Elliott, C. Bishop, and C. A. Morrissey (Eds.), Wildlife
 Ecotoxicology Forensic Approaches. Emerging Topics in Ecotoxicology, Vol. 3, pp
 189-211. Springer, New York, USA.
- Coveney, M., Stites, D., Lowe, E., Battoe, L., & Conrow, R. (2002). Nutrient removal from eutrophic lake water by wetland filtration. Ecological Engineering, 19(2), 141-159. doi:10.1016/s0925-8574(02)00037-x
- Coveney, M. F. (2016). Water Quality Changes in Lake Apopka, Florida and the St. Johns River Water Management District's Restoration Program (pp 1-29). (United States, St. Johns River Water Management District, Water and Land Resources). Palatka, Florida.
- Cornwell, W. K., Cornelissen, J. H., Amatangelo, K., Dorrepaal, E., Eviner, V. T., Godoy, O., ... Westoby, M. (2008). Plant species traits are the predominant control on litter decomposition rates within biomes worldwide. Ecology Letters, 11(10), 1065-1071. doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01219.x

- Critchley, C., Chambers, B., Fowbert, J., Sanderson, R., Bhogal, A., & Rose, S. (2002).
 Association between lowland grassland plant communities and soil properties. Biological
 Conservation, 105(2), 199-215. doi:10.1016/s0006-3207(01)00183-5
- Dahl T.E. (2011). Status and trends of wetlands in the conterminous United States 2004 to 2009.Washington, DC: U.S. Department of the Interior; Fish and Wildlife Service.
- Darrouzet-Nardi A., D'Antonio C.M., & Dawson T.E. (2006). Depth of water acquisition by invading shrubs and resident herbs in a Sierra Nevada meadow. Plant Soil 285:31-43. doi:10.1007/s11104-005-4453-z
- Davidson N.C. (2014) How much wetland has the world lost? Long-term and recent trends in global wetland area. Marine and Freshwater Research 65, 934-941. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF14173
- Davis S.M. (1990). Growth, Decomposition, and Nutrient Retention of Sawgrass and Cattail in the Everglades. Technical Publication 90-03, South Florida Water Management District, West Palm Beach, Florida. 32 pp.
- Desneux, J., Chemaly, M., & Pourcher, A. (2015). Experimental design for the optimization of propidium monoazide treatment to quantify viable and non-viable bacteria in piggery effluents. BMC Microbiology, 15(1). doi:10.1186/s12866-015-0505-6
- Dhillion, S. S. (1997). Fallow Age Influences Microbial Functional Abilities, Soil Properties and Plant Functional Groups. Microbial Communities, 140-148. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-60694-6_13

- Duffy, S. (2014). Litter production and decomposition in three conservation area marshes. Masters thesis. University of Florida, Gainesville, Florida.
- Ewing, S. A., Southard, R. J., Macalady, J. L., Hartshorn, A. S., and Johnson, M. J. (2007). Soil
 Microbial Fingerprints, Carbon, and Nitrogen in a Mojave Desert Creosote-Bush
 Ecosystem. Soil Science Society America, 71(2):469-475. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2005.0283
- Faulkner, S. P., & Richardson, C. J. (1988). Physical and Chemical Characteristics of Freshwater Wetland Soils. In Constructed Wetlands for Wastewater Treatment: Municipal, Industrial and Agricultural (pp. 41-73). Boca Raton, FL: Lewis.
- Fierer, N., Jackson, J. A., Vilgalys, R., & Jackson, R. B. (2005). Assessment of Soil Microbial Community Structure by Use of Taxon-Specific Quantitative PCR Assays. Applied Environmental Microbiology, 71(7): 4117-4120. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.7.4117-4120.2005
- Freeman, C., Liska, G., Ostle, N. J., Jones, S. E., & Lock, M. A. (1995). The use of fluorogenic substrates for measuring enzyme activity in peatlands. Plant and Soil, 175(1), 147-152. doi:10.1007/bf02413020
- Goldfarb, K. C., Karaoz, U., Hanson, C. A., Santee, C. A., Bradford, M. A., Treseder, K. K., . .
 Brodie, E. L. (2011). Differential Growth Responses of Soil Bacterial Taxa to Carbon
 Substrates of Varying Chemical Recalcitrance. Frontiers in Microbiology, 2:94.
 doi:10.3389/fmicb.2011.00094

- Gonet, S., & Debska, B. (2006). Dissolved organic carbon and dissolved nitrogen in soil under different fertilization treatments. Plant, Soil and Environment. 52(2):55-63.
 Doi:10.17221/3346-pse
- Green, S.J., Inbar, E., Michel, F. C., Hadar, Y., & Minz, D, (2006). Succession of Bacterial Communities during Early Plant Development: Transition from Seed to Root and Effect of Compost Admendment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 72:3975-3983. doi:10.1128/aem.02771-05
- Grygoruk, M., Batelaan, O., Mirosław-Świątek, D., Szatyłowicz, J., & Okruszko, T. (2014).
 Evapotranspiration of bush encroachments on a temperate mire meadow A nonlinear function of landscape composition and groundwater flow. Ecological Engineering, 73, 598-609. doi:10.1016/j.ecoleng.2014.09.041
- Hall G.B. (1987). Establishment of minimum surface water requirements for the greater LakeWashington Basin. Technical Publication SJ87-3, St. Johns River Water ManagementDistrict, Palatka, Florida. 85 pp.
- Hall D.B. (2017). Ecology and Management of Carolina Willow (Salix Caroliniana): A
 Compendium of Knowledge. Technical Publication SJ2017-1, St. Johns River Water
 Management District, Palatka, Florida. 122 pp.
- Hartman, W.H., Richardson C.J., Vilgalys R., and Bruland G.L. (2008). Environmental and anthropogenic controls over bacterial communities in wetland soils. Proceedings National Academy Sciences, 105(46):17842-17847. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0808254105

- Jackson R.B., Banner J.L., Jobbágy E.G., Pockman W.T., & Wall D.H. (2002). Ecosystem carbon loss with woody plant invasion of grasslands. Nature, 418(6898): 623-626. doi:10.1038/nature00910
- Johnston, C. A. (2003). Shrub species as indicators of wetland sedimentation. Wetlands, 23(4), 911-920. doi:10.1672/0277-5212(2003)023[0911:ssaiow]2.0.co;2
- Kaye, J. P., & Hart, S. C. (1998). Ecological Restoration Alters Nitrogen Transformations in a Ponderosa Pine-Bunchgrass Ecosystem. Ecological Applications, 8(4), 1052. doi:10.2307/2640960
- Knapp, A. K., Briggs, J. M., Collins, S. L., Archer, S. R., Bret-Harte, M. S., Ewers, B. E., . . . Cleary, M. B. (2008). Shrub encroachment in North American grasslands: shifts in growth form dominance rapidly alters control of ecosystem carbon inputs. Global Change Biology, 14(3), 615-623. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01512.x
- Kludze, H. K., & Delaune, R. D. (1996). Soil Redox Intensity Effects on Oxygen Exchange and Growth of Cattail and Sawgrass. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 60(2), 616. doi:10.2136/sssaj1996.03615995006000020040x
- Langenheder, S., Lindstrom, E.S., and Tranvik, L.J. (2006). Structure and Function of Bacterial Communities Emerging from Different Sources under Identical Conditions. Journal Applied Environmental Microbiology, 72(1):212-220. doi: 10.1128/AEM.72.1.212-220.2006
- Lee, M. A., Snyder, K. L., Valentine-Darby, P., Miller, S. J., & Ponzio, K. J. (2005). Dormant Season Prescribed Fire as a Management Tool for the Control of Salix caroliniana Michx. in a Floodplain Marsh. Wetlands Ecology and Management, 13(4), 479-487. doi:10.1007/s11273-004-2211-2
- Lowe, E. F. 1986. The relationship between hydrology and vegetational pattern within the floodplain marsh of a subtropical, Florida lake. Florida Scientist 49: 213-233.
- Maestre, F. T., Eldridge, D. J., & Soliveres, S. (2016). A multifaceted view on the impacts of shrub encroachment. Applied Vegetation Science, 19(3), 369-370.
 doi:10.1111/avsc.12254
- Marsh, A. S., Arnone, J. A., Bormann, B. T., & Gordon, J. C. (2000). The role of Equisetum in nutrient cycling in an Alaskan shrub wetland. Journal of Ecology, 88(6), 999-1011. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2745.2000.00520.x
- Mitsch, W. J. & Gosselink, J. G. (2007). Wetlands. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Mitsch, W. J., Zhang, L., Stefanik, K. C., Nahlik, A. M., Anderson, C. J., Bernal, B., . . . Song,
 K. (2012). Creating Wetlands: Primary Succession, Water Quality Changes, and SelfDesign over 15 Years. BioScience, 62(3), 237-250. doi:10.1525/bio.2012.62.3.5
- Murphy S.J. (2005). Assessment of Fish and Plant Communities in Lake Apopka, Florida (Doctoral dissertation, University of Florida)

- Moreira-Vilar, F. C., Siqueira-Soares, R. D., Finger-Teixeira, A., Oliveira, D. M., Ferro, A. P., Rocha, G. J., . . . Ferrarese-Filho, O. (2014). The Acetyl Bromide Method Is Faster, Simpler and Presents Best Recovery of Lignin in Different Herbaceous Tissues than Klason and Thioglycolic Acid Methods. PLoS ONE, 9(10). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0110000
- Nocker, A., Sossa-Fernandez, P., Burr, M. D., & Camper, A. K. (2007). Use of Propidium Monoazide for Live/Dead Distinction in Microbial Ecology. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 73(16), 5111-5117. doi:10.1128/aem.02987-06
- Parizek B., Rostagno C., & Sottini R. (2002). Soil erosion as affected by shrub encroachment in northeastern Patagonia. Journal of Range Management, 55(1):43-48. doi:10.2458/azu_jrm_v55i1_parizek
- Pereira, J. S., & Kozlowski, T. T. (1977). Variations among Woody Angiosperms in Response to Flooding. Physiologia Plantarum, 41(3), 184-192. doi:10.1111/j.1399-3054.1977.tb05555.x
- Peng, Y., Ma, Y., & Wang, S. (2007). Denitrification potential enhancement by addition of external carbon sources in a pre-denitrification process. Environmental Sciences, 19(3):284-289. doi:1 0.1016/S1001-0742(07)60046-1
- Peng H., Li X., Li G., Zhang Z., Zhang S., Li L., . . . Ma Y. (2013). Shrub encroachment with increasing anthropogenic disturbance in the semiarid Inner Mongolian grasslands of China. Catena, 109(1):39-48. doi:10.1016/j.catena.2013.05.008

- Quintana-Ascencio P.F., Fauth J.E., Castro Morales L.M., Ponzio K.J., Hall D., & Snyder K. (2013). Taming the beast: managing hydrology to control Carolina Willow (Salix caroliniana) seedlings and cuttings. Restoration Ecology, 21(5):639-647. doi:10.1111/j.1526-100X.2012.00940.x
- Randerson, P. F., Moran, C., & Bialowiec, A. (2011). Oxygen transfer capacity of willow (Salix viminalis L.). Biomass and Bioenergy, 35(5), 2306-2309.
 doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2011.02.018
- Reddy, K. R. & DeLaune, R. D. (2008). Biogeochemistry of wetlands: science and applications. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Rocha, A. V. & M. L. Goulden, M.L. (2009), Why is marsh productivity so high? New insights from eddy covariance and biomass measurements in a Typha marsh, Agriculture Forest Meteorology, 149:159–168, doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2008.07.010.
- Rushton, B. T. (1988). Wetland reclamation by accelerating succession. Ph.D. Dissertation. College of Engineering, University of Florida, Gainesville, FL
- Saintilan, N. & Rogers, K. (2014). Woody plant encroachment of grasslands: a comparison of terrestrial and wetland settings. New Phytologist, 205(3), 1062-1070. doi:10.1111/nph.13147
- Saunders, D., & Kalff, J. (2001). Nitrogen retention in wetlands, lakes and rivers. Hydrobiologia, 443(1/3), 205-212. doi:10.1023/a:1017506914063

- Schade, J. D. & Hobbie, S. E. (2005). Spatial and temporal variation in islands of fertility in the Sonoran Desert. Biogeochemistry, 73(3), 541-553. doi:10.1007/s10533-004-1718-1
- Schaus, M. H., Godwin, W., Battoe, L., Coveney, M., Lowe, E., Roth, R., . . . Zimmerman, A.
 (2010). Impact of the removal of gizzard shad (Dorosoma cepedianum) on nutrient cycles in Lake Apopka, Florida. Freshwater Biology. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2427.2010.02440.x
- Schlesinger, W. H., Raikes, J. A., Hartley, A. E., & Cross, A. F. (1996). On the Spatial Pattern of Soil Nutrients in Desert Ecosystems. Ecology, 77(4), 1270-1270. doi:10.2307/2265595
- Schlesinger, W. H. & Pilmanis, A. M. (1998). Plant-soil interactions in deserts. Plant-induced soil changes: Processes and feedbacks, 169-187. doi:10.1007/978-94-017-2691-7_9
- Scholes R.J. & Archer S.R. (1997). Tree-grass interactions in savannas. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 28(1):517-544. doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.28.1.517
- Schuyt, K. & Brander, L. (2004) The Economic Values of the World's Wetlands. World Wide Fund (WWF), Gland/ Amsterdam.Water Resources Association, 42(1), 99-113. doi:10.1111/j.1752-1688.2006.tb03826.x
- Scott, R. L., Huxman, T. E., Williams, D. G., & Goodrich, D. C. (2006). Ecohydrological impacts of woody-plant encroachment: seasonal patterns of water and carbon dioxide exchange within a semiarid riparian environment. Global Change Biology, 12(2), 311-324. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.01093.x

- Smith, V. H., Joye, S. B., & Howarth, R. W. (2006). Eutrophication of freshwater and marine ecosystems. Limnology and Oceanography, 51(1part2), 351-355. doi:10.4319/lo.2006.51.1_part_2.0351
- St. Johns River Water Management District. (2011). River Lakes Conservation Area land management plan. Palatka, Florida. 74 pp.
- Soana, E. (2013). Radial oxygen loss from the roots of Vallisneria spiralis L.: Biogeochemical implications in eutrophic aquatic ecosystems (Doctoral dissertation, University of Parma).
- Sariyildiz, T., Anderson, J.M. (2003). Interactions between litter quality, decomposition and soil fertility: A laboratory study. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 35(3), 391-399.
 doi:10.1016/s0038-0717(02)00290-0
- United States Department of Agriculture (2017a). Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) Database for [Brevard County, FL]. Available online. Accessed [09/01/2017].
- United States Department of Agriculture (2017b). Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) Database for [Orange County, FL]. Available online. Accessed [09/01/2017].
- USEPA. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (1994). National Water Quality Inventory. 1992 Report to Congress. EPA 841-R-94-001. EPA: Washington DC.

- Van Auken, O. W. (2000). Shrub Invasions of North American Semiarid Grasslands. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 31(1), 197-215. doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.31.1.197
- Vance, E., Brookes, P., & Jenkinson, D. (1987). An extraction method for measuring soil microbial biomass C. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 19(6), 703-707. doi:10.1016/0038-0717(87)90052-6

Vymazal, J. (1995). Algae and element cycling in wetlands. Boca Raton, FL: Lewis.

- White, J., & Reddy, K. (2000). Influence of Phosphorus Loading on Organic Nitrogen
 Mineralization of Everglades Soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 64(4),
 1525. doi:10.2136/sssaj2000.6441525x
- Wider, R. K., & Lang, G. E. (1982). A Critique of the Analytical Methods Used in Examining Decomposition Data Obtained From Litter Bags. Ecology, 63(6), 1636. doi:10.2307/1940104
- Xu, X., Ma, K., Fu, B., Liu, W., & Song, C. (2008). Soil and water erosion under different plant species in a semiarid river valley, SW China: the effects of plant morphology. Ecological Research, 24(1):37-46. doi: 10.1007/s11284-008-0479-z
- Yang L, Deng C.C, Chen Ya-mei, He R.L., Zhang J., Liu Y. (2015). Relationships between decomposition rate of leaf litter and initial quality across the alpine timberline ecotone in Western Sichuan, China]. Ying Yong Sheng Tai Xue Bao. Chinese. PubMed 26(12):3602-10. PMID: 27111995.

Yoshinari, T., & Knowles, R. (1976). Acetylene inhibition of nitrous oxide reduction by species denitrifying bacteria. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 69(3), 705-710. doi:10.1016/0006-291x(76)90932-3